
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD AGENDA 
 

 
Tuesday, 21 September 2021 at 2.00 pm in the Microsoft Teams - Meeting to be held  

virtually via Microsoft Teams 

 

From the Chief Executive, Sheena Ramsey 

Item 
 

Business 
 

1   Constitution (Pages 3 - 8) 

 
2   Corporate Parenting Partnership Action Plan (Pages 9 - 30) 

 
Report of the Strategic Director, Children and Families 

 
3   Placement Sufficiency Annual Report (Pages 31 - 38) 

 
Report of the Strategic Director, Children and Families 

 
4   Missing from Home Annual Report (Pages 39 - 60) 

 
Report of Strategic Director, Children and Families 

 
5   Performance Overview (Pages 61 - 68) 

 
Report of Service Manager, Quality Assurance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Rosalyn Patterson - Email: rosalynpatterson@gateshead.gov.uk 

Tel: 0191 4332088, Date: 21 September 2021 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 
 

                 
 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
DATE  28 September 2021 

 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: Terms of Reference, Membership and Schedule of Meetings 

 

 
Purpose of the Report  

 
1. To advise the Corporate Parenting Board on its proposed overarching terms of 

reference, membership and proposed schedule of meetings. 
 
Background 
 

2. Cabinet approved proposals for the Council’s Corporate Parenting arrangements 

including the establishment of a Corporate Parenting Board on 25 May 2021.  
 

3. The proposed overarching terms of reference of the Board are attached at 
Appendix 1. 
 

4. The full membership of the Board is still being finalised. However, the current 
membership is attached at Appendix 2.  

 

5. The Chair of the Board will be Councillor Gary Haley as Portfolio Holder for 

Children and Young People.   
 

6. In addition to this meeting, a proposed schedule of meetings for the remainder of 
2021/22 has been agreed with the Chair and these are attached at Appendix 3. 

 
Recommendation 
 

7. The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to consider its proposed terms of 
reference, membership and schedule of meetings. 
 

 
 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Contact: 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 2 

Appendix 1 
 

Terms of Reference of The Corporate Parenting Board 

 
1. Membership 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board will consist of twenty four members as follows: 

 Six councillors (including the Chair)  

 A Secondary School Governor representative 

 A Primary School Governor representative 

 A representative from the Police 

 A Care Leaver representative 

 A Foster Carer representative 

 A representative from the CCG 

   A representative from the Council’s Housing Services 

 A representative from the Council’s Public Health Team 

 A representative from CNTW 

 A representative from the Voluntary Sector 

 A Young Person Ambassador  

 A representative from Gateshead System – Commissioning 

 The Council’s Children’s Rights Officer 

 Gateshead’s Virtual School Head for LAC 

 
 The Council may appoint such other persons or representatives as it thinks 

appropriate having consulted the Corporate Parenting Board. 
 

 The Corporate Parenting Board may itself appoint such additional persons to be 
members of the Corporate Parenting Board as it thinks appropriate. 

 

The political balance rules will apply to the Corporate Parenting Board. 
 
2. Quorum 

 
 The quorum for a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board shall be no less than 8. 

and must include a minimum of two councillor representatives. Non-councillor 
members of the Board will be able to nominate substitute members to attend on their 
behalf. 

 
3. Frequency of Meetings 

 

The Board shall meet on a quarterly basis or at such other times as the Corporate 
Parenting Board shall determine. 

 
4. Role and Function 

 

Gateshead’s aspirant vision is that “Children and families are at the heart of 
everything we do, ensuring all children can thrive and reach their full potential”. Our 

children have a right to be healthy, happy, safe and secure and feel loved, valued 
and respected and our corporate parenting arrangements are a key component to 
achieving this ambition. 

Page 4



 3 

Informed by what our looked after children and young people say is important to 
them, we have identified seven key priorities in the Gateshead’s Children and Young 

People in Care and Care Leavers Strategy 2018-2023 which are at the heart of 
everything we do and how we can be good corporate parents:  
 

• Our Children and Young People are respected and involved 
• Our placements are safe and meet the needs of our Children and Young 

People 
• Positive relationships and identity 
• Our Children and Young People will be supported to improve their physical 

and emotional health and wellbeing  
• Our Children and Young People are encouraged to reach their educational, 

employment and training potential 
• Our Young People moving into adulthood will be supported to achieve their full 

potential in life 

• Improve our role as the Corporate Parent 
 

It is therefore proposed that the role and functions of the Corporate Parenting Board, 
will be:- 
 

• To make recommendations as to the strategic priorities for services for looked 
after children, as a Board 
To provide a forum for elected members, partners and Officers of the Council to 

oversee the progress of all looked after children,  
• To monitor the services the Council and its partners deliver to the children it looks 

after and our care leavers, with the aim of continually improving outcomes. 
• To ensure that all looked after children and young people have a positive 

experience and that the strategy enhances their outcomes 

• To raise awareness of the Council’s corporate parenting responsibilities and 
develop expertise and knowledge among elected Members and officers. 

• To encourage all partners, whether they work for health or social care services or 
the voluntary sector, to work in an integrated manner in the best interests of 
looked after children and care leavers; 

• To lead cultural and behavioural change to promote better outcomes for looked 
after children and care leavers; 

• To hold all partners to account for their role in the delivery of services to looked 
after children and care leavers. 

• To provide a mechanism to ensure the views of children looked after and young 

people are acted on. 
• To provide an improved synchronicity between the Corporate Parenting Board 

and Corporate Parenting Partnership Group and facilitating the Families OSC 
holding the partnership group to account via scrutiny of relevant partnership plans 
/ work to deliver each of the seven key corporate parenting principles. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 5



 4 

Appendix 2 

 
Membership of the Corporate Parenting Board 

 
Councillors  

Cllr Gary Haley (Chair) (Cabinet Member) 

Cllr Angela Douglas 
Cllr Hazel Weatherley 

Cllr Sheila Gallagher 
Cllr Freda Geddes 
Cllr Ian Patterson 

 
Partners 

Sarah Diggle   Secondary School Governors 
TBC once appointed  Primary School Governors 
Lynne Colledge  Police 

Nicola Barrass  Care Leavers 
Malcolm Hedley  Foster Carers 

Linda Hubbucks  CCG 
Dr Kate Ward*  CNTW 
TBC once appointed  Voluntary Sector 

TBC once appointed Young Person Ambassador  
 

*interim until Senior CNTW Psychologist is seconded into the Council 
 
Council Officers 

Kirsty Sprudd  Gateshead System – Commissioning 
Chris Hulme    Children’s Rights Officer 

Jean Thompson   Virtual School Head for LAC 
Andrea Houlahan  Deputy Strategic Director for Children Social Care and Early 

Help  

Caroline O’Neil   Strategic Director, Childrens, Adults and Families  

Moira Richardson  Public Health 

Deborah Ewart  Housing 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 6



 5 

Appendix 3 
 

Corporate Parenting Board – Proposed Schedule of Meetings 

• 21 September 2021 
• 14 December 2021 

• 1 March 2022 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



  

   

  
 
TITLE OF REPORT:  Corporate Parenting Partnership Group   

 
REPORT OF:  Caroline O’Neill, Strategic Director, Children and Families   

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
This report provides the context of the Corporate Parenting Plan and Corporate 

Parenting Partnership Group and the actions required in order for the Council to be a 
‘good corporate parent’. 

 

 
Introduction  

 

1. Gateshead Council has a unique responsibility to children who are cared for by 
the authority and care leavers as their ‘corporate parents’.  As such, the Council 
has legal and moral responsibilities towards them and as a corporate parent 

should carry out many of the roles a parent would. We must aspire to provide 
everything a loving parent does and should still be able to provide our children 

and young people with the best possible support and care so they can achieve 
good outcomes in life. 

 

2. For the Council to be a good corporate parent, we need to have the highest 
ambitions for our children and young people looked after and have a ‘whole 

council’ approach to their care and upbringing, involving staff, carers, Elected 
Members and partner organisations alike. We will encourage everyone to do as 
much as they can to make sure that children and young people feel in control of 

their lives and able to overcome the barriers they face.  
 

3. Gateshead Council has a strong commitment to corporate parenting, making it a 
priority for everyone as if they were our own children and young people. 

 

4. The concept of Corporate Parenting was introduced by the Government in 1998 
as part of a drive to improve the lives of children who are looked after by the 

local authority. The Corporate Parenting responsibility was reinforced in 2007 
with the release of the White Paper ‘Care Matters – Time for Change’ and the 
underpinning legislation, Children and Young People Act 2008. The Children and 

Social Work Act 2017 now compels local authorities to evidence how they meet 
the seven Corporate Parenting Principles, as they are statutory in relation to 

looked after children and care leavers.  
 
5. Whilst specific corporate parenting responsibilities do not apply to partner 

agencies, the Statutory Guidance to the Act (2018) notes that councils with the 
highest ambitions for looked after children and care leavers will seek to engage 

other agencies in meeting the needs of their young people.  
 
The Corporate Parenting Principles 

   

Corporate Parenting Board   

  21 September 2021 

    

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



  

 
6. The Corporate Parenting Principles set out seven fundamental requirements for 

looked after children and care leavers, as follows: 

 To act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health 

and wellbeing, of those children and young people 

 To encourage those children and young people to express their views, 

wishes and feelings 

 To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and 
young people 

 To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the 
best use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant 

partners 

 To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for 

those children and young people 

 For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their 
home lives, relationships and education or work 

 To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent 
living 

 
The Role of Partners 

 
7. The Corporate Parenting Partnership Group will promote a strong corporate 

parenting ethos and consider how services can be delivered differently to meet 

the needs of the care population as effectively as possible. Gateshead Council 
alone cannot meet the needs of Looked After Children and Care Leavers and 

needs to work effectively with partners to implement the statutory Corporate 
Parenting Principles.  

 
The Partnership Group 

 

8. The Corporate Parenting Partnership Group is made up of colleagues from the 
Council, Health Services, Education, the Voluntary Sector and other relevant 
organisations. This group is chaired by the Assistant Strategic Director – Social 

Work and the Service Manager – Looked After Children is the vice chair.  
 
9. The group will take forward issues and decisions arising from the Corporate 

Parenting Board which require the engagement of operational services in and 
outside the council. The actions and recommendations agreed by this group will 

be shared with the Corporate Parenting Board.  
 
Conclusion 

 
10. Every year of the three-year Corporate Parenting Strategy, consultation will take 

place to ensure the relevance and development of the operational plan that 
supports it. This consultation will be with children and young people in or leaving 
care and a sample of their corporate parents. 

 
11. Every good parent wants the best for their child, and the Corporate Parenting 

Operational Plan 2021-2024 sets a clear commitment from Gateshead Council to 
its children and young people in or leaving care. 

 

Page 10



  

Corporate Parenting Governance Chart 
                                                

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
      

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Corporate Parenting Workstreams 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 

ARTS, LEISURE & 
CULTURE 

WORKSTREAM 

 
 
VACANT  

Rebecca Pedlow 
Chris Myhill 
Julie Nicholson 

Gavin Bradshaw 
Chris Hulme 
Valerie Ender 

Lynn Littler 
Karolynne Hart 
Steve Jinski (ext) 

Wendy Smith (ext) 
Vikas Kumar (ext) 
Martin Hylton (ext) 

Annie Bedford (ext) 
Steve Sullivan (ext) 
Anne Fountain 

(ext) 

EDUCATION, 

TRAINING & 
EMPLOYMENT 
WORKSTREAM 

 
Jean Thompson  
Danny Meek 

Karen Ruddick 
Lauren Collinson 
Sonia Anderson 

Emma Blackwell 
Danny Meek 
Beverley Hunter-

Smith 
Martin McDonald
  

HEALTH 
WORKSTREAM 

 
 
 

Linda Hubbucks  
Ellen Robinson  
Jon Gaines 

Moira Richardson 
Jackie Ingram 
Shauna Garrett 

Clare Cavanagh 
Maxine Duffy 
Jean Hubble 

Dawn Harvey 
Susan Walker 

PARTICIPATION 
WORKSTREAM 

 
 
 

Chris Hulme 
Laura Cassin 
Jackie Ingram 

Lucy Peart 
Beverley Hunter-
Smith 

Martin Hanson 

PLACEMENTS & 
ACCOMMODATION 

WORKSTREAM 
 
 

Andi Parker 
Jennifer Neill 
Martin Hanson 

Jill Little 
Martin Hanson 
Joanne Waters 

Julie Young 
Penny St Bernard 
Kathryn Reeve 

Paul Kelly 
Jane Skittrall 
Ben Van 

Wagtendonk 
Emma McManus 

CARE LEAVERS 
WORKSTREAM 

 
 
 

Beverley Hunter-
Smith 
Kate Sheldon 

Care Leaver 

Chair: Assistant Strategic Director Social 

Work  
Vice Chair– Children and Families and 

Service Manager – Looked After Children 

CORPORATE PARENTING 

PARTNERSHIP 
Chair: Elected Member 

PERFORMANCE 
WORKSTREAM 

 

 
 
To be agreed in 

2021 

P
age 11



  

 
All workstreams will be underpinned by the principles of: 

 Co-production with children, young people, carers and other stakeholders 

 Focusing on the impact of any actions on the lives of children and young people in care, and Care Leavers 

 Proactive solution focused approaches 

 

Workstream Three Key Priorities for 2021 

Education, Training & 

Employment 

5.1a Ensure that all Gateshead children have an effective, high quality PEP 

5.2a 
Develop a process to ensure that all post-16 young people have a written career 

plan 

5.2b 
Ensure the consistency of engagement of post-16 young people with EET and to 
achieve 90% attendance 

Health 

4.1a 

4.1b 

Recovery – return to face to face health assessments and access to health services 
including dental and identifying health needs of care leavers. Monitoring compliance 

with statutory timeframes via score card. 

4.1b 
Strengthen provision of emotional & mental health support to meet local need and 
ensure that children placed at distance receive the service they require. Strengthen 

assessment of mental health needs on entering care.  

4.1c 
Improve support and advice to reduce unplanned pregnancies and the number of 
babies of care leavers coming into the care system.  

Participation  

1.1a 
Planning session for CSCMT to be delivered by young people so that they 

understand the current challenges faced by children and young people. 

1.1b 
Voice of the Child Audit to highlight areas for development to strengthen the voice of 
the child in LAC reviews and explore styles of recording, consultation documents 

and how the IROs code participation in the process. 

1.1c 
Organisation of a virtual celebration event to recognise and reward the 
achievements of our children and young people during the difficult pandemic period.  

Placements & Accommodation 
2.1e 

Look at specific provision to enable CYP to reside in or return to Gateshead. This 
may increase Gateshead provision or work alongside it 

5.1g 
Ensure work to bring CYP back into Gateshead dovetails with active work on 
alternative education provision 

P
age 12



  

2.1e 
Develop the Shared Lives offer to work with CYP from 16yrs as an alternative to 

fostering and residential placements. 

Care Leavers 

6.1a 
Develop a multi agency Care Leavers group to consult with young people and inform 
and improve service delivery 

6.1a 
Consult with young people regarding their transition to the Leaving care team, 

accommodation and the SAILS panel process. 

6.1c 
Consult with young people in relation to their awareness of their entitlements as care 
leavers.  

 

 
 
Recommendation 

 

It is requested that the Corporate Parenting Board note the contents of this report  

 
 
CONTACT:  Andrea Houlahan    EXTENSION: 2782 

 
 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT - Corporate Parenting Operational Plan  
 
Key: ALC = Arts, Leisure & Culture Workstream 
 ETE = Education, Training & Employment Workstream 
 H = Health Workstream 
 P = Participation Workstream 
 PA = Placements & Accommodation Workstream 
 CL = Care Leavers Workstream 
 

PRIORITY 1 – OUR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE ARE RESPECTED AND INVOLVED 

 
How we will deliver our priority: 
 

Ref Key Action What will we do? 

(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 

Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress/Impact RAG 

Rating 

1.1 - Ensure Looked After Children and Care Leavers are aware of their entitlements and know where to access information, how to seek advice and support and understand how to make a 

complaint 
1.1a Ensure staff have the knowledge, 

skills and commitment to engage 

and listen to Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers in effective ways 
appropriate to their age, ability and 

interests 

Providing a variety of ways for 
children and young people to 

express their views including 
independent advocacy and MOMO 
 

Need to consider children with 
disabilities. 

All information is on the 
Gateshead Council website. 

 
Printed information is available 
for all young people on 

request. 
 
Young people have access to 

MOMO 

Participation 
 

Care 
Leavers 

Safe Recruitment of Staff 
 

Continued promotion of advocacy with 
young people. 

Care Leavers App under development  

1.1b Ensure we maximise the 
involvement of Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers in 

decisions made that affect them 
and provide feedback on any 
actions that are/are not taken as a 

result 

Looked After children are visited at 
least every 6 weeks (unless 
otherwise agreed as part of a 

permanence plan) and seen alone. 
 
Contact with Care Leavers is made 

at least every 8 weeks unless 
otherwise agreed 
 

Looked After Children are active 
participants in their reviews and 
meet the Independent Reviewing 

Officer regularly and before each 
upcoming review 

Looked After Children and 
Care Leavers engage in 
structured interviews at key 

points to evidence how they 
feel about the services they 
receive 

 

Participation 
 
Care 

Leavers 

We need to do more to ensure Looked 
After Children and Care Leavers 
maximise their take up of rights and 

entitlements through more accessible 
information available in a range of 
formats including e-materials 

 
Improve on evidencing how we have 
responded to a young person’s views 

and the difference this has made. 
 
Annual Surveys for 2019 are 

outstanding – to be distributed to 
working groups for consideration of 
relevant questions asap. 

 

Findings from key interviews to be 
systematically collected, collated and 
reported back to CPP to inform Service 

development. 
 
*May need to add performance 

measures (for example, number of 
children being visited etc) from 
dashboard 

 

1.1c Ensure we celebrate the 
achievements of all of our Looked 
After Children and Care Leavers 

 

  Participation  
 
Education, 

Training & 
Employment 
 

Care 
Leavers 
 

Achievement award ceremony to be 
arranged for 2021/2022 

  

1.1d Ensure young people, children with 

disabilities and care leavers can 

 Regional contract in place for 

the Independent Visitors’ 

Participation 

 

Continue to promote the IVS with 

professionals and young people 

  

P
age 15



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress/Impact RAG 
Rating 

have access to an independent 
visitor 

 

Service Care 
Leavers 

 
Review of the service to be 

undertaken on an annual basis  
 

1.2 – Have a strong and active Children in Care Council (One Voice) which is able to help influence and shape the delivery of services through direct access to Senior Officers of Children’s 

Services 

1.2a Ensure the Council and its partners 

support One Voice and our wider 
Children in Care Council activities 
and deliver against the 

commitments made in our Care 
Pledge and the Care Leavers’ 
Charter 

Regular meetings of One Voice 

 
Attendance at One Voice by Senior 
Officers 

 
Attendance at Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee by One Voice 

members 
 
Looked After Children and Care 

Leavers are regularly involved in the 
recruitment and interview process 
for Children’s Social Care staff 

 

Continue to increase the 

membership of One Voice. 
 
Continue to develop our 

approach to participation and 
engagement; raising 
awareness and building 

capacity across services so 
that we can hear and respond 
to the voices and views of 

children and young people.  

Participation Ensure that all Looked After Children 

and carers are aware of the purpose 
and function of the group 
 

Celebration of Achievement Awards to 
be used by One Voice to encourage 
other young people to become 

involved and attend. 
 
Work to be done with Foster Carers to 

encourage them to support young 
people to attend.  

  

 
 

PRIORITY 2 – OUR PLACEMENTS ARE SAFE AND MEET THE NEEDS OF OUR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

 
How we will deliver our priority: 
 
Ref Key Action What will we do? 

(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 

Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress/Impact RAG 

Rating 

2.1 – We will ensure that we have a range of placements available for our children and young people and that there will be minimum placement moves for any Looked After Child 

2.1a Implement a sufficiency strategy to 

help deliver improved options for 
Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers 

Recruitment and retention of foster 

carers. 
 
Work with Commissioning to source 

any external placement requests 
 
Social workers or Managers visit 

placements, including residential, 
before moving children to ensure the 
quality of the service they offer. 

 
Current engagement taking place 
with local IFA providers to support 

the development of specifications. 
 
 

The Fostering Placements 

Team was established in 
December 2019 comprising of 
2 social workers and dedicated 

Business Support to ensure 
continuity in work around 
placement searches and 

identification. 
 
Recruitment campaign for 

Foster Carers began in 
January 2020 targeted for 
sibling groups which used real 

life stories from existing foster 
carers. 
 

NE12 regional framework has 
been in place since February 
2018 which includes: 

 Pre-16 and post-16 
placements in Dept for 
Education registered, 
independent special 

schools and colleges, 52 

Placements 

& Accom. 

Expand the remit of the Fostering 

Placements Team. 
 
Introduction of Placements Hub with 

workers from Fostering Service and 
Commissioning working closely 
together. 

 
Review Fostering Service structure 
with a view to developing separate 

assessment and support teams.  
 
Continue to review and adapt the 

Fostering recruitment campaign 
throughout 2021/22 – to include 
targeted recruitment for respite foster 

carers, long term foster carers and 
those able to take sibling groups. 

Placements Hub began 1
st

 September 

2021.  

 

 

P
age 16



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress/Impact RAG 
Rating 

week residential, Termly 
boarder, Weekly boarder 

and Day placements 

 Ofsted registered 
residential short breaks for 

children and young people 

 Ofsted registered 
Residential Children’s 
Home placements 

 
NE7 regional IFA framework in 
place from October 2019. 

Update report presented from 
Commissioning to SMT, GMT, 
Portfolio Holders, CSCMT 

September 2020. 
 

2.1b Placement Changes are kept to a 
minimum 

Maximise permanency for children in 
care so as to ensure that where 

possible and appropriate they are 
provided with stable placements via 
adoption or long term/permanent 

fostering.  
 

Performance reports will 
demonstrate placement 

stability, permanence planning 
and highlight areas for 
improvement 

 
At the point of placement a 
matching process is in place to 

minimise placement moves.  
 

Placements 
& Accom. 

Improve links with Early Permanence 
Panel and Resource Panel 

Link to appropriate Performance data 
including Out of Borough, In-House, IFA, 

3+ placement moves, Call-off data 

 

2.1c Ensure children’s plans are robust 
with a focus on permanency 

Drift is avoided by having a robust 
permanency planning process 

 
A permanency planning process 
ensures that early decisions are 

made and any drift is avoided.  
 

 Participation 
– linking in 

with IRO 
teams 
 

Placements 
& Accom. 
 

   

2.1d Ensure Looked After Children and 

Care Leavers have a variety of 
ways to express any concerns they 
have about their placement and 

that these are acted on promptly 

Placements are visited by social 

workers every 6 weeks unless 
otherwise agreed as part of a 
permanence plan) 

 
A clear escalation process is in place 
to ensure the Independent 

Reviewing Officers can bring 
concerns about a placement to the 
attention of a Manager in a timely 

manner.  
 
Independent advocacy is available to 

all young people 
 
Concerns and complaints are 

responded to promptly.  
 

 Participation 

– linking in 
with Jackie 
Ingram & 

Alison 
Routledge 
(complaints) 

   

2.1e Increase Local Authority Children’s 
Home capacity 

 

Increased capacity will mean that 
young people placed in expensive 

out of borough residential 
placements can be brought back to 
the Gateshead borough. 

Identification of young people 
and children in external 

residential provisions to enable 
matching within in-house 
homes.  

Placements 
& Accom.  

Linking in with Property Services to 
identify and view potential properties.  

 
 

New Children’s Homes (Longside and 
Kite’s Rise) now open. 

 

P
age 17



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress/Impact RAG 
Rating 

 
Reduced expenditure on external 

residential placements. 
 

2.1f Improve links with The Gateshead 
Housing Company 

 

Coordinate with colleagues in 
housing to ensure that Care Leavers 

are able to access appropriate 
accommodation such as taster flats 
within good timescales.  

 
Work with Housing to support Care 
Leavers in their own accommodation 

to ensure that they are able to 
secure their own tenancies. 
 

Housing Supported 
Accommodation and Leaving 

Care Teams work together to 
identify and support Care 
Leavers in their own 

accommodation. 
 
Housing Supported 

Accommodation 
representatives attend SAILS 
Panel on a regular basis to 

provide updates on young 
people and progressions to 
their own tenancies from taster 

flats.  
 

Placements 
& Accom.  

Newly appointed Housing Support 
Officers to observe SAILS Panel. 

 
 
 

Taster flats available through the 
housing company though the SAILS 

model. 
 
 

 

2.1g Increase the supported 
accommodation available to Care 

Leavers 
 

SAILS Model in place from July 
2018. 

 Placements 
& Accom.  

 
Care 
Leavers 

Scoping of services taking place in line 
with strategic Homelessness Strategy 

development. SAILS and 18+ 
supported accommodation services. 

Increase in 5 dispersed properties 
available through SAILS panel from Jan 

2021. 
 
 

 

 

 
 

PRIORITY 3 – POSITIVE RELATIONSHIPS AND IDENTITY 

 
How we will deliver our priority: 
 
Ref Key Action What will we do? 

(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 

Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress/Impact RAG 

Rating 

3.1 – Children and Young People are supported to maintain, build and sustain positive relationships with others including their birth families, siblings, carers and their peers 

3.1a Children and Young People (where 
appropriate) will be enabled to 

sustain family relationships with 
parents, siblings and extended 
family in a safe and positive way 

 

Extended family are always 
considered as part of the planning 

process and children are placed with 
extended family when it is safe to do 
so.  

 
Regional IFA framework in place and 
regularly reviewed 

 Care 
Leavers 

 
Participation 
 

Placement 
& Accom.  

Increase numbers of local, available 
placements in order for young people 

to maintain links and retain 
relationships. 
 

Family Time 
Life Story Work 

 

Looking to go out to tender on 

Regional IFA framework with a start 
date of October 2019. Current 
engagement taking place with local 

IFA providers to support the 
development of the specifications.  
 

NE7 regional contract in place from 

October 2019.  

 

3.1b Children and Care Leavers will 

have opportunities to participate in 
a range of activities, including arts 
and cultural events to support with 

independence. 

A variety of activities are provided 

throughout the year for Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers.  
 

MAX and GatesheadGO cards 

are provided to young people 
and foster carers to support 
visits to a range of cultural 

venues and leisure facilities.  

Arts, 

Leisure & 
Culture 

Ensure young people placed at 

distance have equivalent access to 
leisure and cultural activities as their 
peers. 

 

  

P
age 18



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress/Impact RAG 
Rating 

Improve the offer from our partners in 
leisure, arts and culture to enable 

Care Leavers to access facilities in the 
same way as Looked After Children 
can. 

 

  

3.1c Children and young people will be 
encouraged and have opportunities 
to develop strong peer 

relationships 

Where possible, placements are 
local and friendships are 
encouraged. 

 
Wherever possible, children and 
young people will remain in the 

same school or education provision. 
 

 Participation 
 
Arts, 

Leisure & 
Culture 

   

3.2 – Children and Young People know who they are, why they are in care and understand their heritage. They feel valued by others and their individual needs are understood and met. 

3.2a Children will understand why they 

are in care and life story work will 
be undertaken to support them and 
help them make sense of their 

need to be looked after. 
 

Continue to invest in Life Story work 

to reflect the Story of the Child and 
help them to understand their 
experiences and background. 

 Participation 

with LAC & 
therapeutic 
social work 

staff 

Obtain as much information as 

possible from parents, birth family and 
friends at the earliest stage of 
Children’s Services’ involvement. 

  

3.2b We will value all young people and 
their individual needs arising from 

race, culture, religion, sexual 
orientation or disability will be 
understood. 

At the point of placement the 
matching process in place will 

provide support to ensure close 
cultural links are maintained, 
especially where there is not the 

same cultural match. 
 

 Placements 
& Accom.  

   

3.2c Children and young people will 
have access to specialist support, 

including psychological support 
and Life Story worker if required to 
ensure needs are met. 

 

Ensure children received appropriate 
advice and access to health services 

on issues of identity.  

 Health 
 

Placements 
& Accom. 
 

Education, 
Training & 
Employment 

 

Advice and signposting available via 
CNTW consultation process. Service 

is currently under review. 

Children and young people have been 
appropriately referred to specialist 

service at Tavistock re gender issues 
and support.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PRIORITY 4 – OUR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WILL BE SUPPORTED TO IMPROVE THEIR PHYSICAL, EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

 
How we will deliver our priority: 

P
age 19



 
Ref Key Action What will we do? 

(Required Outcomes) 
How We Will Achieve This Workstream 

Involved 
Actions Milestones/Progress/Impact RAG 

Rating 

4.1 – Our children and young people will be encouraged and supported to lead healthy and active lifestyles. They will have access to specialist services, including those associated with additional 

needs or disability 
4.1a The health needs of children and 

young people will be assessed and 
reviewed in a timely way 

All young people coming into care 

will have a health assessment with a 
medical practitioner. This will be 
reviewed 6 monthly for children 

under 5 years old and annually for 
children aged 5-18 years old. 
 

 

Ensure timeframes for IHA and 

RHAs are achieved. 
 
Blended version of virtual 

health assessments and face 
to face occurring during Covid 
restrictions.  

 
Timescales for completion of 
IHA and RHAs are reported on 

the CCG quarterly dashboard 
and monitored on a monthly 
basis with performance 

monitoring tool. 
 
Assessment of mental health 

needs are undertaken. 
 

Health Monitoring mechanisms are in place 

and targets 95% are met. 
 
Action plan requested for IHA 

improvement. 
 
 

 
 
Return to face to face health 

assessments. Monitor compliance with 
statutory timeframes via score card. 
 

 
 
Awaiting 2020-21 result from SDQ 

assessment from Local Authority.  
 

IHAs 

70% completion at end of December 
2020 
64.3% completion at end of year 

94.7% Q1 2021/22 
 
RHAs 

97% completion at end of December 
98% completion at end of year 
97% Q1 2021/22 

 
Q1 2021/22: IHA 70% & RHA 88.5% 
 

 
 
SDQs identified level of need in 2019-20 

81% coverage identified                             
58% were borderline or in need of 
support. 

Provisional 20/21 data shows 
improvement in overall score and 
reduction in the number of LAC identified 

as borderline/in need of support 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

4.1b Where required, children and 
young people will have access to 

specialist health services in a 
timely way 

Ensure good access to health 
services and advice is available to 

Looked after Children and Care 
Leavers. 
 

Children and young people have 
their need for additional emotional 
support recognised and addressed 

and are supported in achieving 
emotional stability, resilience and 
self-confidence. 

Identify in Care Plans and 
Pathway Plans what support 

may help a child or young 
person’s emotional wellbeing 
and provide opportunities to 

facilitate this e.g. sport, 
hobbies, musical instruments.  
 

Build the skills and 
experiences within our own 
professional networks to 

support children and young 
people’s emotional stability 
and identify the times and 

challenges when more support 
is required.  
 

Responsive access to a range 
of counselling and therapies, if 
necessary, according to needs 

to ensure proactive support as 
opposed to ‘reactive’ 
treatment. 

 
Strengthen assessment of 
mental health needs on 

entering care. 
 

Health Focus on mental health and transition 
 

To continue scoping and 
strengthening the mental health and 
emotional wellbeing (SCIE) for 

children and young people 
 
Mental Health workstream to merge 

with main Health workstream. 
 
New residential model of mental 

health support is being developed. 
 
Strengthen provision of support for 

emotional and mental health needs at 
local level and ensure children placed 
at distance receive the service they 

require.   
 
Scoping of the issue of access to 

dental services to be undertaken and 
data to be shared with LACHT. 
 

Speech and Language Therapy 
(SALT) needs for LAC being fed into 
service review.  

 
Return to face to face access to health 
services including dental. Monitor 

compliance with statutory timeframes 

Draft SCIE Plan currently under 
consultation 

 
Covid has impacted on face to face 
access to some health services:  

Mental Health – CNTW CYPS continue 
to offer virtual appointments and face to 
face when indicated. Consultation 

sessions continue to be available to offer 
support, advice and signpost and have 
developed a more flexible approach. 

From Sept 2021 – return to face to face 
appointments. 
Dental – some young people may not 

have seen a dentist as services have 
been greatly interrupted. Advice on 
accessing dental services given to Local 

Authority for carers. There is a national 
push to return to full services.  
From Sept 2021 – routine dental 

appointments should now be accessible 
to LAC. 
 

Sept 2021 – Designated Doctor and 
Nurse for LAC are engaged with SALT 
review, raising the needs of LAC. 

 

 

P
age 20



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress/Impact RAG 
Rating 

via score card. 
 

4.1c Children and young people will be 

supported to lead healthy lifestyles 
and understand the risks of 
alcohol, substance misuse and 

sexual exploitation. 

Improve the health offer to Care 

Leavers. 
 
Give better recognition to the link 

between health, school, placement 
and family and an individual’s 
emotional wellbeing.  

 
Improve support and advice to 
reduce unplanned pregnancies and 

the number of babies of care leavers 
coming into the care system.  
 

Leaving Care drop-in at Jigsaw 

set up to occur on a monthly 
basis – this will include 
personal assistants, sexual 

health, Platform, LAC Health 
team, Housing and Children’s 
Rights Officer.  

 
All girls at 15 years old have a 
consultation with sexual health 

advisor, following teenage 
pregnancy audit. 
 

Dataset has been amended to 
focus on lifestyle issues.  
 

Health 

 
Care 
Leavers 

Focus on sexual health and pregnancy 

 
Sexual Health Support consultation 
survey to be launched by end of July 

2021. 
 
Improve communication systems and 

access for foster carers to relevant 
information and training.  
 

Continued work to be done on lifestyle 
issues as well as looking at 
strengthening the collection of data in 

this area. 
 

Teenage pregnancy audit completed. 

Further research undertaken which 
proposed a focussed piece of work to 
further develop sexual health support.  

 
 
GAP analysis being undertaken as of 

Sept 2021. 
 
 

 
Variety of health national circulars have 
been shared with foster carers and 

residential social workers.  
 
Dataset amended. 

 

 

 

 

4.1d Develop clear actions to ensure 
health outcome targets are met for 
Looked After Children 

All care leavers will receive a health 
passport which is a comprehensive 
summary of their health history and 

support for adulthood.  

Process in place within LAC 
Health Team for providing 
Leaving Care health 

summaries with training for 
foster carers arranged by 
Workforce Development. 

 
Collecting views of Care 
Leavers on their health needs 

and views on health service 
provision.  
 

Health Explore opportunity to measure Care 
Leavers’ health needs. 
 

Project commenced to seek Care 
Leavers’ views on health services and 
support. 

 
 
 

Project previously stalled due to Covid, 
but sessions now in diary to complete 
this with video expected at end of May 

2021. Planning meeting with young 
people to take place 28.07.21 and Video 
launch & Panel event to take place on 

15.09.2021.. 

 

4.1e We will improve the link with 

Learning Disabilities and 
Transitions Services 
 

Earlier identification of Learning 

Disabilities and Pathways Post-18 

Improving coding in GP 

records of LAC with Learning 
Disability diagnoses. 

Health CCG are planning a joint audit of all 

safeguarding coding. 

Improvements in the system are being 

reported. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PRIORITY 5 – OUR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE ARE ENCOURAGED TO REACH THEIR EDUCATIONAL, EMPLOYMENT AND TRAINING POTENTIAL 

 
How we will deliver our priority: 
 
Ref Key Action What will we do? 

(Required Outcomes) 
How We Will Achieve This Workstream 

Involved 
Actions Milestones/Progress RAG 

Rating 

P
age 21



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress RAG 
Rating 

5.1 – We will support all Looked After Children to attend an appropriate education resource that helps them achieve their potential 

5.1a Ensure that all children have an 

effective, high quality personal 
education plan (PEP) 

Virtual School will share a revised 

Covid PEP with all school and 
providers. 
 

Ensure that 100% of Looked After 
Children have a high quality PEP. 
 

Post-16 PEP process has been 
revised and implemented with 
meetings in schools and colleges to 

encourage providers to complete 
them independently. 
 

Continue to increase 

attendance by Virtual School 
staff at PEP reviews where 
appropriate. 

 
Transitions work has improved 
between phases through the 

use of a newly produced 
transition document and high 
quality PEP. 

 

Education, 

Training & 
Employment 

Increase the percentage of completed 

and returned PEPs for post-16 year 
olds. 
 

To produce a more appropriate PEP 
document for those pupils who are in 
employment or training. 

 
Original PEP to be reintroduced with 
Virtual School staff continuing to 

attend where appropriate.  
 
Focus on quality of documentation to 

increase. 
 

Following the roll out of the new Covid 

PEP some schools chose to continue 
with the original process so return was 
mixed. 

 
Better than expected percentage of 
reviews taking place, particularly out of 

borough. 
 
Virtual school members attending more 

reviews. 
 
The number of PEP returns has 

significantly increased following the 
revised process and schools and 
colleges are positively engaging with the 

process.  
 

 

5.1b Track and monitor children’s 
attainment and progress and 

respond according to individual or 
group need. 

The Virtual Head has effective 
monitoring and tracking systems to 

evaluate progress and achievement 
and plan interventions to address 
emerging themes. 

 
 
 

Children and young people’s 
academic progress and 

attainment is analysed and 
monitored via their Looked 
After Reviews and PEP 

meetings. 
 
 

Education, 
Training & 

Employment 

 
 

 

  

5.1c Raise awareness and train 

partners on the unique needs of 
Looked After Children 

Training including statutory support 

to designated teachers is delivered 
to a range of partners including 
foster carers and social workers. 

This includes topics on what works 
to support children’s education. 
 

Looked After Children will be 
prioritised for careers advice, training 
and apprenticeships and career 

opportunities. 
 

 Education, 

Training & 
Employment 

Work with all Directorates within the 

Council to improve the apprenticeship 
offer for young people. 
 

To offer training to foster carers to 
inform them of post-16 options, the 
support available and how they can 

support young people regarding their 
post-16 choices. 
 

  

5.1d Ensure the multi-agency education, 
employment and training panel 

(EET) brings together expertise 
and resources to support Looked 
After Children. 

Looked After Children will have 
access to work experience 

opportunities and shadowing days 
both within the Council and with 
partner agencies. 

 

The EET panel will monitor the 
progress an create 

opportunities for young people 
entering further education, 
employment and training. 

Education, 
Training & 

Employment 
 
Care 

Leavers 
 

To link with the EET team to monitor 
those young people who are NEET. 

  

5.1e Keep school moves to a minimum 
and where moves are necessary, 

they are carefully planned and the 
most appropriate education 
provision is secured. 

 

  Education, 
Training & 

Employment 

   

5.1f Reduce school exclusions and 
work with school professionals to 
support them in keeping children 

and young people at school. 

  Education, 
Training & 
Employment 

   

P
age 22



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress RAG 
Rating 

 

5.1g Improve the opportunities for 
alternative provision within the 

locality 
 

  Education, 
Training & 

Employment  
 
Placements 

& Accom.  
 

   

5.2 – We will support and encourage all Care Leavers to attend education, employment or training 

5.2a Raise awareness and train 

partners on the unique needs of 
Care Leavers 

Training including statutory support 

to designated teachers is delivered 
to a range of partners including 
foster carers and social workers. 

This includes topics on what works 
to support children’s education. 
 

Care Leavers will have access to 
work experience opportunities and 
shadowing days both within the 

Council and with partner agencies. 
 
Care Leavers will be prioritised for 

careers advice, training and 
apprenticeships and career 
opportunities. 

Develop a process to ensure 

that all post 16 young people 
have a written career plan.  
 

Meeting to be planned for 
school careers advisers and 
other partners. 

 
IAG and Virtual School now 
working more closely and 

services are beginning to 
develop better working 
relationships. 

 
Improve coordination between 
schools and EET.  

 
Every care experienced child 
should have a careers advisor. 

 

Care 

Leavers 

Improve the offer to Care Leavers 

aged 16-25 years old. 
 

Care Leavers aged 16-18 years old have 

the opportunity to work 1:1 with a job 
coach.  

 

Support the development of work 
experience and shadowing 

opportunities within the Council.  

 

Work with all Directorates within the 

Council to improve the apprenticeship 
offer for Care Leavers. 

 

To offer training to foster carers to 
inform them of post-16 options, the 
support available and how they can 

support young people regarding their 
post-16 choices. 
 

 

Virtual school to attend next 

Gateshead Network for Careers 
Advisors to explore what career plans 
are already in existence and try to 

coordinate the advice given between 
different services.  
 

 

Career plan to be developed that 

could be included in the final Year 11 
PEP so that possible destinations can 
be recorded, bringing together all 

relevant services involved in careers 
advice.  
 

 

5.2b Ensure the multi-agency education, 

employment and training panel 
(EET) brings together expertise 
and resources to support Care 

Leavers. 

Ensure the consistency of 

engagement of Post 16 young 
people with EET and to improve 
attendance. 

The EET panel will monitor the 

progress an create 
opportunities for young people 
entering further education, 

employment and training. 
 
EET Panel to continue to 

monitor NEET, in particular 
those young people who are 
long term NEET. 

 
A ‘Whole Council’ approach to 
the provision of opportunities 

for care leavers to be 
promoted.  
 

Care 

Leavers 
 
Education, 

Training & 
Employment 

To link with the EET team to monitor 

those young people who are NEET. 
 
Links with social workers to improve 

so that timely information can be 
gathered.  
 

Process flow chart to be created by 
IAG regarding EET support available 
for care experienced children, 

including those OOB. 

IAG teams have reported that more 

young people are being reached but 
there is a mixed picture of where young 
people are at due to Covid.  

 
Covid has impacted on current EET 
figures. NEET figures are particularly 

high at present due to young people 
disengaging from education and job 
losses. Links have been made with the 

Care Leavers’ Covenant to explore the 
benefits of membership and EET 
opportunities to care leavers through 

successful partnerships.  

 

P
age 23



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress RAG 
Rating 

 

 
 

PRIORITY 6 – OUR YOUNG PEOPLE MOVING INTO ADULTHOOD WILL BE SUPPORTED TO ACHIEVE THEIR FULL POTENTIAL IN LIFE 

 
How we will deliver our priority: 
 
Ref Key Action What will we do? 

(Required Outcomes) 
How We Will Achieve This Workstream 

Involved 
Actions Milestones/Progress RAG 

Rating 

6.1 – Our Young People are supported into adulthood in a seamless manner and provided with progressive and ongoing interventions 

6.1a Young people enter adulthood in a 
planned way, with a home to live 
in, the skills to look after 

themselves and the ability to earn 
a living. 

A Personal Advisor will be allocated 
to eligible young people at the age of 
16 who will work with the allocated 

social worker until the young person 
is 18. 
 

The Personal Advisor will remain 
involved until the young person 
reaches the age of 25 and will 

continue to offer support until the 
age of 25. 
 
Increase the accommodation offer 

and options for young people leaving 
Care. 
 

Increase the contribution from our 
young people into their planning.  
 

 

Begin preparation for 
independence at an earlier 
stage and for this to be built 

upon well before plans for 
moving are finalised.  
 

Improve the quality of our 
pathway planning through 
having a quality assurance 

auditing process. 
 
Develop a multi-agency Care 
Leavers panel to monitor the 

progress of Care Leavers’ 
accommodation plans and 
identify any themes and gaps 

with the intention of improving 
service delivery and 
strengthening multi-agency 

working. 
 
 

Care 
Leavers 

Further development of the SAILS 
provision including those who don’t 
directly meet the current threshold as 

well as providers available to offer 
placements that support CCG 
registered activities.  

 
Review of provision to take place at 
the 12 month point to identify gaps 

and future needs. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Improve partnership consultation and 
give young people a voice in relation 

to the dimensions of their Pathway 
Plans. 
 

Care Leavers’ consultation group to 
continue to meet and membership to 
be increased.  

SAILS (Supported and Independent 
Living Service) Pathway established in 
Summer 2018. Young people are 

referred to the pathway and given the 
opportunity to be needs assessed as an 
outreach client of to enter a fully 

supported residential assessment centre 
for a period of 56 days. A multi-agency 
panel reviews their assessment and 

recommends an outcome for their next 
housing need. Contracts established 
with providers offer a range of housing 
options from 24 hour supported living to 

semi-independent living and fully 
independent taster flats with a view to 
having their own tenancy. 

 
Consultation with Care Leavers is being 
developed to inform practice. Health & 

Housing representatives attended Care 
Leavers’ meeting on 13.05.21 and young 
people were able to ask questions about 

accommodation issues and mental 
health. 
 

Consultation with Care Leavers has 
been concluded in relation to service 
delivery during the pandemic. Feedback 

was positive with most advising that they 
enjoyed more regular telephone and text 
contact with their PAs and felt they got to 

know them better.  
 

 

6.1b Utilise the Transitions Team to 
support the planning for young 

people from the age of 16 who may 
be eligible for support from Adult 
Services. 

The Pathway Plan will give clear 
expectations and identify the people 

responsible to help young people 
prepare for adulthood and have the 
life skills to achieve a smooth 

transition into independence. 
 
Improve the transfer to the Leaving 

Care Team and transition to 
independence to ensure a smooth 
transition from LAC to care leaver. 

Consult with young people 
regarding their transition to the 

Leaving Care Team, 
accommodation options and 
the SAILS Panel process. 

Care 
Leavers 

Young people to be encouraged to 
attend their Pathway Plan reviews and 

participate in planning to strengthen 
their voices.  

Small Care Leaver consultation group 
took place regarding their transfer to the 

Leaving care Team and transition to 
independence. Findings have been fed 
into the team development plan for 

further work.  

 

P
age 24



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress RAG 
Rating 

 

6.1c Ensure entitlements are made 
clear to Care Leavers 

 

Care Leavers will be aware of their 
entitlements 

 
Promotion of the Care Leavers’ app 
across the service with workers and 

young people.  

 Care 
Leavers 

Consult with larger group of Care 
Leavers around current knowledge 

and access to information 
 
 

A small group of care leavers has been 
consulted regarding their entitlements as 

care leavers. They were aware of the 
Care Leavers’ app and felt they had a 
good understanding of their entitlements.  

 
 
 

 

6.1d Ensure all necessary information 

has been obtained for young 
people in a timely way e.g. birth 
certificate, NI number, bank 

account and health passport. 
 

Care Leavers have access to their 

information and are able to use this 
for a range of purposes, such as 
opening bank accounts, accessing 

services, college, apprenticeship or 
employment. 
 

Social workers and Personal 

Advisors to work with foster 
carers and/or residential staff 
to ensure information has been 

obtained in a timely fashion. 

Care 

Leavers 

   

 
 

PRIORITY 7 – IMPROVE THE ROLE OF THE CORPORATE PARENT 

 
How we will deliver our priority: 
 
Ref Key Action What will we do? 

(Required Outcomes) 
How We Will Achieve This Workstream 

Involved 
Actions Milestones/Progress RAG 

Rating 

7.1 – Continue to improve outcomes for Looked After Children and Care Leavers via the further implementation of a Corporate Parenting and Partnership approach to the development and 
delivery of services 
7.1a Ensure that at the core of 

everything we do is our 
understanding of our responsibility 

as a Corporate Parent. 

Listen to what young people are 
saying and use what we learn to 
improve Services and outcomes.  

There needs to be an increase 
in the sense of Corporate 
responsibility across all 

statutory agencies in the 
support for our Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers.  

 
Raise awareness with all new 
staff employed with Gateshead 

Council with regards to their 
corporate parenting 
responsibilities.  

 

    

7.1b Elected members and council 
officers will take a lead role in 
raising awareness of the needs of 

children in care and Care Leavers 
with all Council departments and 
partner agencies.  

Attendance at the quarterly meetings 
of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 
Training to be provided for elected 
members. 

 
Regular updates to Senior Officers 
within the council 

 

Continue to develop the multi-
agency approach to Corporate 
Parenting to become more 

effective in the delivery of the 
Corporate Parenting Plan. 

  Directors of Services have made 
pledges relating to their role as 
Corporate Parents.  

 

7.1c Promote the role of elected 
members as Corporate Parents 
and ensure that appropriate 

mechanisms are in place by the 
Council to enable all members to 

Ensure Senior Offices act on their 
pledges. 

   Workshops with senior leaders across 
the Council have taken place, delivered 
by young people. 

 

P
age 25



Ref Key Action What will we do? 
(Required Outcomes) 

How We Will Achieve This Workstream 
Involved 

Actions Milestones/Progress RAG 
Rating 

fulfil their statutory responsibilities 
in this area. 

 

  

P
age 26



 

 

Corporate Parenting Partnership: Terms of Reference 
 

 
Purpose 

To lead on behalf of the Council and partners of the Local Authority to ensure that all services directly provided 

for children and young people in care and care leavers are delivered to a high standard and to all statutory 

requirements. 

 
To raise the aspiration, ambitions and life chances of children and young people in care, narrowing the gap of 

achievement and outcomes between children in care and their peers. 

 

To ensure that children in care are protected and supported to develop as healthy citizens, able to participate 

fully in their community. 

 
To ensure that all elected members are aware of their corporate parenting responsibilities and that all Council 

services are mindful of the needs of children in care and respond accordingly within their particular remit. 

 

Functions of the Partnership 

To receive regular reports in relation to the adoption, fostering, commissioning, children looked after services, 

care leavers and the virtual school with a view to identifying any areas of underperformance and recommending 

any changes. 

 
To ensure that the principles of corporate parenting are incorporated within key plans, policies and strategies of 

the Council including interagency working arrangements. 

 

To review reports relating to complaints from looked after children to ensure officers have dealt with these 

appropriately and made any recommendations for change. 

 

To raise awareness in Gateshead Council and amongst its partners and the wider community by promoting the 

role of members as corporate parents and the Council as a corporate family with key responsibilities;  

 
To raise the profile of the needs and achievements of children looked after and care leavers through a range of 

celebratory events/activities determined by children looked after and care leavers.  

 

To ensure that leisure, cultural, further education and employment opportunities are provided and taken up by 

our children looked after and care leavers. 

 
To ensure that the views of children and young people are regularly heard through the Corporate Parenting Panel 

to improve educational, health and social outcomes. 

 

To meet with children and young people in care, frontline staff and foster carers to inform the panel of the 

standards of care and improvement outcomes for children looked after.  

 

To monitor the ongoing commitment to providing support, training and clarity of expectations for foster carers to 

provide excellent and high quality care. 

 

To appoint elected members as Champions for Children in Care in respect of the following strands:  

 
 Housing 

Page 27



 

 

 Employment and training opportunities within council departments and with partner agencies 

 Health (including mental health) 

 Educational Attainment and access to Higher Education 

 Foster carer recruitment and retention 

 Response to those who go missing. 

Children in Care Council (One Voice) 

Representatives from the Children in Care Council will regularly contribute to the Corporate Parenting 

Partnership through methods and approaches agreed with children looked after and care leavers.  

 

Work Programme 

The Corporate Parenting Partnership will meet every three months, supported by an annual work programme 

to be reviewed at each meeting. In reviewing the work programme, the Partnership may request reports on 

particular matters of their own preference or as advised by the lead officer. 

 
Performance Monitoring 

The Corporate Parenting Partnership will regularly scrutinise and monitor outcomes for children in care and care 
leavers. The Partnership’s work will be underpinned by a core data set considered at each meeting. Additional 

detailed monitoring reports will be presented in accordance with the agreed work programme. 

 
Membership of the Partnership 
The membership of the Partnership will include an Elected Member of the Council appointed in accordance with 
political balance requirements. 
 
Other Members of the Council will be invited to discuss issues and raise questions within a standing agenda item. 
 
The Executive Lead responsible for Children will chair the partnership and be supported by at least one vice 
chairperson agreed within the group. If the chair or vice chairperson leaves, then these arrangements will be 
reviewed.  
 
Membership will also include a foster carer and representatives from the Children in Care Council. 
 
Membership of the Partnership and workstreams will include key partners to support the delivery of key priorities 
including but not exclusive to: 
 
Responsible Role       Name 
Assistant Strategic Director, Social Work – Children & Families  Andrea Houlahan 
Service Manager, Looked After Children    Jill Little 
Designated Nurse for Looked After Children    Ellen Robinson 
         Linda Hubbucks 
Named Nurse for Looked After Children    Jean Hubble 
Looked After Children’s Team      Beverley Hunter-Smith 
Children and Young People’s Rights Officer    Chris Hulme 
Virtual School Head       Jean Thompson 
Fostering Team       Martin Hanson 
Commissioning       Andi Parker 
Libraries, Arts & Heritage      currently vacant 
The Gateshead Housing Company     Penny St Bernard 
Youth Offending Team      Emma Blackwell 
Safeguarding and Care Planning Team     [_______________] 
Assessment and Intervention Team     [_______________] 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 

Workstreams 

Workstream groups will be established to drive forward the Partnership’s three year Operational Plan. Each 
workstream will be lead by a member of the Corporate Parenting Partnership and membership made up from a 
range of professionals and partners appropriate to the function of the group.  

 
Workstreams established for 2021-2024 shall include: 
 
Arts, Leisure and Culture     Lead: currently vacant 
Education, Training and Employment    Lead: Jean Thompson 
Health       Lead: Linda Hubbucks 
Participation       Lead: Chris Hulme 
Placements and Accommodation    Lead: Andi Parker 
Care Leavers       Lead: Beverley Hunter-Smith 
Performance       Lead: currently vacant 
 
The membership of each workstream will be reviewed at least annually to ensure that it is appropriate for the 
function of the group.  
 

Frequency of Workstream Meetings 
Workstream groups should meet at least twice between each quarterly Partnership meeting, however the size and 
focus of these meetings will be at the discretion of the Workstream Lead in accordance with the actions and 
responsibilities of the group. For education groups, meetings will take place once a term as a minim um 
requirement.  
 

Officer support 
Every member should understand their role as Corporate Parent and ensure their regular attendance at all meetings 
including Workstream meetings, or else provide a delegate to attend in their absence to ensure continued sufficient 
officer support. 
 

Training 
Appropriate training will be commissioned for members of the Corporate Parenting Partnership as required and will 
form part of the Member’s Development Programme.  
 

Frequency of Partnership Meetings 
Partnership Meetings will be every three months preceded with agenda setting informed by the members of the 
Partnership, annual work programme, performance monitoring and the views of children looked after and care 
leavers. 
 

Reporting Mechanisms 

The Corporate Parenting Partnership will report to the Gateshead Safeguarding Children’s Board the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board, Health and Wellbeing Board and the Performance Clinic Quality Board as required. 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Corporate Parenting Board   
21 September 2021 

 
 
 

TITLE OF REPORT:   Placement sufficiency for Looked After Children  
                              

REPORT OF:   Caroline O’Neill, Strategic Director, Children and Families 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

This report outlines the challenges faced by Children’s Social Care in relation to 
placements for Looked after Children (LAC) and provide information about developments 

within the service, linked to the placement sufficiency strategy. 
 

 
POLICY CONTEXT  

 
Children in Care 

1. Under the Children Act 1989, a child is legally defined as ‘in care’ by a local authority if 

he or she: 
 Is provided with accommodation for a continuous period for more than 24hours 

 under S.20 (voluntary agreement with parent or with the young person if he/she 

is  over 16years old). 

 Is subject to a Care Order (made by the Family Court) 

 Is subject to a Police Protection Order, Emergency Protection Order or Remand  

 Is subject to a Placement Order (pre-adoption) 

2. Within this report we will refer to young people who meet these criteria as Looked After 

 Children (LAC) or young people 
 

3. A young person ceases to be in care when he or she turns 18 years old, an adoption 
 order is granted, or their parents resume parental responsibility.  
 

4. The Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 extends the local authority’s responsibilities to 
 Care Leavers up to the age of 21, or 25 if they are in full-time education or continue to 

 need a service/support. 
 

Background 
 
Gateshead Demographic context 

5. Gateshead has a population of around 201,600 people.  Gateshead's population is 
 projected to increase by 11,000 (5.5%) between 2014 and 2039 to 211,500. 

 
6. The population is ageing, and it is projected that by 2039 there will be an additional 
 14,400 people aged 65 or older, an increase of 38%.  There will also be a slight 

decrease  in the number of children and young people aged 0-15 of around 500 or 1.5%. 
 

7. One in four children in Gateshead live in poverty.  Children who live in poverty are 
 significantly more likely to experience poor mental health as well as physical health. 

 

  

Page 31

Agenda Item 3



 

8. Entering care is strongly associated with poverty and deprivation, and with emotional 
and mental health problems.  Research suggests that around 45-60% of LAC and 

Young People have emotional and mental health problems, increasing to 72% for those 
in residential care. 

 
The number of LAC in Gateshead  

9. The number of LAC in Gateshead on the 16th February 2018 was 386, which has 

steadily increased, with the highest being 455 in August 2020.  In July 2021, there were 
433 LAC, which is a rate of 109.9 per 10,000, which is higher than both the England 

average, our statistical neighbours and North East average. This is closely monitored 
by team managers and senior managers within Children’s Services – please see 
graphs below 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

356 

385 

356 
359 

378 

386 

396 397 399 

415 

407 

391 
398 

393 

417 

428 

451 
455 

433 

421 
424 

436 

444 
441 

350

370

390

410

430

450

Mar-16 Oct-16 May-17 Nov-17 Jun-18 Dec-18 Jul-19 Jan-20 Aug-20 Mar-21 Sep-21

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

h
il

d
re

n
 

Changes in LAC Numbers over last 5 years 

Number of LAC Trendline

Page 32



 

10. The below graph shows, the types of legal orders our LAC are on.  

 Section 20 are primarily new into care 

 Interim Care orders are often used when families are unwilling to sign section 20 

and children need to be removed for their protection. This order is also used 

when an assessment has been undertaken and the long-term plan is for the 

children to remain looked after 

 Full Care Orders are made at the end of parenting assessments, psychological 

assessments or any court directed assessments, resulting in the child not being 

able to return home to their parents.  They remain LAC, often until they are 18 

 Placement Orders are made for those children who are being adopted 

 

 
 
 

What does this mean? 

11. The steady increase and sustained numbers of between 420 to 455 LAC has caused 
 immense pressure on the fostering service and has resulted in a higher use of 

 Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA) and external residential provision. 
 
Internal provision 

12. In Gateshead we currently have 

 175 fostering households, comprising of 142 mainstream fostering households 

and 33 kinship/connected foster carers and six foster-to adopt households  

 Grove House – short-break provision for children with disabilities  

 Blaydon Children’s Home – long-term residential provision for five young people 

aged 11-18years  

 Longside House – long-term residential provision for six young people aged 11-

18years with one of the placements being a small flat to prepare a young person 

for independence.  This enables one young person to stay after their 18 th 

birthday  

 Kites Rise – three-bedded therapeutic residential home for children aged 10-

18years  

 We also commission supported accommodation and taster flats via SAILS for 

our Care Leavers 

Page 33



 

13. In terms of the number of young people we have in our own resources, we are doing 
very  well as we have  

 237 placed with our in-house foster care carers 

 52 placed with approved connected carers 

 8 foster- to-adopt placements 

 14 young people in our own residential provision 

 14 children waiting for adoption in their adoptive families 

 19 children placed on care orders at home 

14. This equates to approximately 80% of our LAC being cared for in our own resources. 

This is positive as we know our own foster carers and residential provision gives the 
best outcomes for our children. 

 
Independent Fostering Placements 

15. Historically we had a very low use/need for IFA placements, however over the last 12 

months there has been a significant rise in the use of IFA placements.  
 

16. All IFA placements are approved and monitored by the High Needs Review Panel, 
which is chaired by Andrea Houlahan, Assistant Strategic Director.  Every effort is 
made to keep the use of these placements to a minimum, and to return chi ldren to our 

own foster placements as soon as possible.  We currently have 34 independent 
fostering placements for 52 children, which is primarily made up of sibling groups and 

hard to place complex young people requiring a specialist or solo placement. 
 
External residential Placements 

17. This is an area that has remained fairly static from 2018 to the present day, with 
placements fluctuating between 28 and 32.  These placements often care for our most 

challenging and hard to place young people with a range of complex needs, including 
 Autism 

 Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder  

 Learning disabilities/difficulties 

 Behavioural difficulties, including violence and aggression to staff and peers  

 Offending behaviour  

 Missing episodes 

 Risk of child sexual exploitation  

 Self-harm 

 Step down from mental health services (Ferndene) 

18. Every effort is made to keep the use of these placements to a minimum and share the 
costs with education and the CCG.  These placements are approved by Andrea 

Houlahan, Assistant Strategic Director.  
 
Leaving Care 

19. The leaving care team are working with 104 young adults aged 18-21years and have 
108 eligible young adults aged 21-25.  The accommodation needs of these young 

people are met by 

 Staying-Put with their foster carers  

 Supported accommodation with commissioned SAILS providers 

 Taster flats 

 Own tenancies 

 Living with family and friends Page 34



 

20. We also have one young person in custody, and one young person detained under the 
Mental Health Act 

 
21. A strategic review of homelessness is underway, which includes young people’s 

services, and this will be completed in September 2022. The SAILS contract will remain 
in place until this review is completed 

 

Placement sufficiency 

22. The development and delivery of highly effective support for children who are looked 

after by the local authority is a key priority for Gateshead.  We constantly seek to 
improve outcomes for LAC and Care Leavers in order to improve their life chances and 
opportunities. These outcomes are closely linked to placement stability and ensuring 

that children have placement choice and are matched and placed with the right carers 
or residential establishment. 

 

23. Gateshead’s Corporate Parenting Pledge sets out our commitment and responsibilities 
as a corporate parent, which is to provide the best possible care and protection for 

children and young people in care.  At the core of this responsibility is the moral duty to 
provide the kind of support that any good parents would provide their own children.  

This includes enhancing the quality of life of children in care as well as simply keeping 
them safe. 

 
Fostering 

24. Gateshead currently has 52 young people placed in independent fostering placements.  

This has increased in line with the LAC numbers increasing, however we would like this 
number to reduce.  It needs to be acknowledged that some young people have been 
matched long term with their IFA carers and therefore, even if we are successful in 

recruiting 30 new sets of foster carers each year, there will still be some use of IFA 
placements. 

 
25. Significant work has been taking place with the Fostering Team Manager and 

Marketing and Recruitment officer to develop a recruitment strategy that will bring more 

foster carers to Gateshead as we need 
 Single placements for complex young people  

 Teenage placements  

 Placements for sibling groups  

 Parent and child placements  

 Placements for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children 

 Short break/home-from-home carers for children with disabilities  

 Long-term carers  

26. This is a big ask as we are competing against IFA’s and our regional fostering services, 
however enquiries have increased over the last six months and the monitoring of 

enquiries is more robust 
 
27. The marketing plan for 2020-21 focussed on maintaining a presence across a wide 

range of media channels with the aim of promoting fostering to those living within the 
Gateshead area and surrounding 20-mile radius.  It was necessary to review our 

marketing approach due to the impact of the pandemic as it was not worthwhile using 
outdoor advertising during the periods of lockdown. 

 

28. We focused our activity on our social media and utilising the Council Corporate 
Channels, including residents’ magazine and e-mail updates to communicate that we Page 35



 

were still recruiting foster carers.  The service continues to increase the use of digital 
channels and we can see an increase in enquiries generated via these channels 

(Facebook and Google AdWords). Enquirers are consistently using the website to find 
their information and the resident’s magazine (Council News) also performs well. 

 
29. All campaign assets involved images and video footage of our own Gateshead foster 

carers which produced authentic messaging. We have also developed a “recommend a 

friend scheme”, which rewards existing foster carers and is a starting to produce results 
 

30. We have also become a “fostering friendly “employer in the aim to recruit and support 
council employees. This is in early stages, but we are hopeful that this will encourage 
more people to enquire 

 
31. We have noted that the ongoing marketing activity and promotions has resulted in a 

higher number of enquiries and whilst some people have needed to be ruled 
out/enquiries did not progress, we have 15 new assessment being undertaken and a 
further six sets of prospective foster carers on the next Skills to Foster training 

 
32. The marketing plan will continue to evolve and will utilise the “free of charge” marketing  

tools as well as ‘paid for’ campaigns to ensure that Gateshead Council’s Fostering 
Service has a good presence to compete with other local authorities and IFA’s.  We will 
continue to deliver our marketing campaigns utilising our established brand and 

advertising materials to drive prospective foster carers to our website.  Specific 
attention will be focussed on increasing our use of social media channels in line with 
the Corporate Social Media Review.  In addition to the above wider awareness raising 

a targeted plan will be developed to target specific gaps and needs. 
 

33. There has also been a bid submitted regionally for money to develop the Mockingbird 
project in Gateshead and we are waiting to see if we have been successful in this bid. 

 
Residential 

34. It has to be acknowledged that whilst we would like to have all of our young people 

within our own resources not all of these young people can be returned as they need 
highly specialised resources.  However, we would like to develop additional resources 
within Gateshead to meet the needs of the children we have placed at a distance and 

can safely return to Gateshead. To achieve this, we need to develop a range specialist 
residential resources to include 

 Single occupancy/two-bedded children’s home  

 Three-bedded children’s home – already planned in  

 Three-bedded residential home for children with disabilities – already planned in  

35. The development of these homes comes at a cost to the Council, some of which have 

been agreed as part of the medium-term financial strategy. 
 
Supported Accommodation 

36. The current commissioned model does have some shortfalls and under the 
homelessness review we will be asking for 

 Additional 24hour supported accommodation 

 Supported accommodation that will work for our most challenging, high risk 

young people  

 Parent and child supported accommodation as this is limited at present 

 
 Page 36



 

Role of Commissioning  

37. Commissioning of Children’s Services in Gateshead is focussed on delivering excellent 

outcomes for children and families, achieving the best value for money and building 
local capacity.  

 
38. Within commissioning we work strategically with other local authorities, our partners 

and with local providers to offer choice and flexibility, including frameworks and 

collaborative commissioning across geographical and organisational boundaries.  
Gateshead Council will continue to work with providers and alongside regional partners 

to expand what is available and improve quality monitoring to meet the needs of the 
children in our care.  This provision includes: 

 NE7 Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) framework 

 NE12 is a Flexible Procurement Agreement for delivery of placements for 

children and young people as outlined below, which include residential children’s 

homes for children and young people aged 0-18 years and Ofsted registered 

residential short break services for children and young people aged 0-18 years 

 Independent Ofsted registered providers that are off framework and willing to 

provide placements for Gateshead Council 

 PAUSE programme aimed at reducing the numbers of children and young 

people brought into care 

 A dynamic purchasing system which enables providers to register to deliver 

future provision in a planned or emergency situation, whilst undergoing checks 

to maintain their safety. 

 Lead on stakeholder engagement to clarify our commitment and mechanisms for 

engagement at an individual, service and strategic level. 

 In partnership with Children’s Services, investigate alternatives ways of working 

with families and children. 

39. Whilst we would ideally like to have all our young people placed within our own 

resources this is not achievable, and we will continue to have a need for externally 
commissioned placements.  However, externally commissioned placements are also in 

short supply and face similar pressures as those described earlier regarding fostering 
services.  Across the country the numbers of LAC continue to rise and therefore the 
demand for placements is competitive as other local authorities both within and out-with 

our region are making placement requests of the same providers.  This is 
acknowledged in the current Care Review and cements our position in relation to the 

need to invest and develop our local residential provision. 
 
Next steps 

40. Our priorities are informed by what our LAC and Young People say is important to 
them.  We have worked with them and they have told us that having placement choice, 

placement stability and being able to maintain their social links and identity are very 
important 

 

41. As already shown, placement choice is limited and there are areas of development 
required to increase placement sufficiency both in residential, fostering and supported 

accommodation. There will be work undertaken both strategically and operationally to 
develop services that can not only meet the current demand but also the projected 
demand. This work will be cross cutting and link with 

 Vision 2030 

 Thriving Gateshead  

 Gateshead Council Plan  Page 37



 

 Gateshead’s Children and Young People in Care and Care Leavers Strategy 

(2018-2023) 

 Gateshead Council’s Fostering Recruitment Strategy  

 Placement Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy  

42. By working together to increase our placement choice it is hoped that our offer to LAC 
and Young people and Care leavers is improved, and that they are placed and 

supported within Gateshead,  
 
Recommendation 

 

The Board is asked to 

 Note the report 

 Agree the contents 

 Consider the frequency of updates to the committee 
 
 
CONTACT:   Jill Little  

  Service Manager  

  Looked After Children and Corporate Parenting  
  Extension:  3420 

Page 38



  
                                             

  
   

  
 
TITLE OF REPORT: Missing from care episodes and child sexual 

exploitation for children and young people looked 

after by Gateshead Council             

 
REPORT OF: Caroline O’Neill, Strategic Director, Children and 

Families  

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
This report provides an updated summary of missing from care episodes from 

August 2020 to July 2021 and an update regarding protection and monitoring of 
child exploitation. 

 

  

 
Background 

 

1.   Young people who go “missing” from their home, foster care or residential care, 
 do so for many complex reasons which cannot be viewed in isolation from their 

 home circumstances and their experience within the Looked After system. It is 
 therefore essential that the Council monitors this closely and understands what 
 is happening for the young people living within the borough. 

 
Policy Context 

 
2. Gateshead Council has clear procedures regarding missing children and young 

people which incorporate a joint protocol between Northumbria Police and 

Children’s Social Care. The procedures and data systems formed part of the 
Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership’s (GSCP’s) oversight of 

arrangements. The protocol was updated in May 2019 and then in September 
2019, the new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements came into effect. 
Missing from home or care is still a priority for the partnership. 

 
Definition of Missing from Care 

 

3. In July 2017 Northumbria Police adopted the national missing definition;   

 
“Anyone whose whereabouts cannot be established will be considered as 
missing until located, and their wellbeing or otherwise confirmed.” 

 

4. All reports of missing persons sit within a continuum of risk from ‘no apparent 

risk (absent)’ through to high risk cases that require immediate, intensive action. 

 
  

Corporate Parenting Board 
21 September 2021 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



The police determine the level of risk (low/medium/high) based on the 

information shared with them.  
 
5. All professionals must ensure that all known information held on a child/young 

person is shared with the Police to ensure that the correct level of risk is applied 
– including if child is Looked After or if they have any other vulnerabilities. 

 

6. A missing category for each young person may be different depending upon the 

management of assessed risks relating to the young person.  
 

 Low - Risk of harm to subject/public is possible but minimal  

 Medium – Risk of harm to subject/public likely but not serious 

 High – risk of ‘serious harm’ to subject/public is assessed as very likely 

(serious harm is defined as – risk that is life threatening and/or traumatic, 

from which recovery, whether physical or psychological can be expected to 
be difficult or impossible) 

 Absent – This category is not used by Northumbria Police for children. 

Missing 

 

7. A child is defined as missing when they are away from placement or not where 
they are supposed to be, and their whereabouts cannot be established.  Where 
their location is known but there are concerns because of the child’s 

vulnerability or there is a potential danger to them or the public, this would not 
be a ‘missing’ episode to police.  It may still require a safeguarding response 

from Social Care and/or Police.  
 

8. A child or young person who is not where they are supposed to be and whose 

whereabouts cannot be established should be classified as missing if one or 
more of the criteria below apply:   

 

   There is identified or imminent risk of the child or young person being 
exposed to significant harm 

   The child or young person poses a risk of significant harm to others 

   There are suspicious circumstances  

   The absence is out of character or unusual behaviour  

   There are indications that the child has already come to harm  

   There are indications that the episode is not a deliberate or careless act  

   There are indications that the child or young person  

o Is not expected to return within reasonable time limits  
o Is not staying at homes of others known to them  

o Will not be easily located  
  
9. A child or young person in this category must be reported to the police. 

 
10. In October 2019 the police developed a new protocol/initiative to help locate 

and safely return a young person in residential care and in some fostering 

placements as quickly as possible when they are missing. This went live on 1 
December 2019 and is known as the Philomena protocol, which we use in all 

Page 40



our residential homes and fostering placements. There are forms with vital 

information on for foster carers and residential staff to complete as well as there 
being an up to date photograph of the young person. Philomena puts police and 
partners on the front foot in the event of a missing episode and all agencies can 

respond quickly and effectively to safely locate the child.  
 

11.The protocol for responding to missing children has been updated, and all 
children who go missing are offered a Return Home interview (RHI), regardless 
of how long they have been missing or how often. The RHI form has been 

reviewed and updated to ensure push and pull factors are considered and to 
allow for more narrative (including any previous missing episodes). This is an 

area of work that has been developed over the last 18 months and will be 
detailed later in the report 

 

12. The key messages from research regarding young people Missing from Care 
over the last five years highlighted that: 

   Few young people leave their local area 

   Many stay with friends known to them/relatives, less than a third or a 

quarter sleep rough 

   Most common reasons for running away are conflict with parents/step 
parents and carers and wanting to spend time with friends and partners 

   Young people who run away are more likely to be absent from school 
through refusal to attend or exclusion 

   Young people are at as much risk whether they are missing for the first time 
or on any subsequent occasions 

   Young people who go missing are often very vulnerable and place 
themselves at risk and are exposed to violence, victimisation, sexual 
exploitation and involvement in crime 

 
 

13. It is important that the assessment of risk is a dynamic process and should be 
re-considered and challenged at every point during a child or young person’s 
absence. 

 
Overall data 

 
14. There were 861 missing episodes in total between August 2020 and July 2021, 

of which 510 (59.23%) were looked after children. This represents a decrease 

in the total number of missing episodes compared to 2019 (908) and it also 
shows a decrease in terms of the number of missing from care episodes which 

involved looked after children for the same period (626 (69%)). 
 

Type No. of Males No. of Females Total  

Missing Episodes 433 428 861 

RHI Assessment 128 129 257 
    

Type No. of Males 

(Individuals) 

No. of Females 

(Individuals) 

Total  

Missing Episodes  157 129 286 

RHI Assessment 81 86 167 

 

Page 41



15. There is a difference between the number of missing/absent episodes each 

month and the number of missing/absent individuals as some people will have 
more than one episode. 

 

16. Over the last 12 months young people who have been recorded as missing 
from care have in most cases returned quickly to their placements.  

 
17. A small cohort of missing episodes of looked after children are for more than a 

24-hour period.  They are young people who are in the older age group and 

who have had very complex needs and backgrounds. Clear procedures are in 
place to manage these longer episodes. 

 
18. Between August 2020 and July 2021 there were 72 episodes where a young 

person was missing or absent for over 24 hours. Most of those young people 

were missing from care (59.2%), which is an increase on last year. 
 

19. It is always a concern when young people are missing for over 24 hours which 
is why it is monitored to see if there are any patterns for individual or groups of 
young people. Targeted interventions are implemented and, disruption plans 

looked at by the multi-agency Missing, Slavery Exploited and Trafficking 
(MSET) group to ensure everyone is doing all they can to keep young people 

safe 
 
Aug 20 – Jul 21 data  

 
Month Total 

missing 
and absent 

episodes 

Episodes 
over 

24 hours 

Episodes 
over 72 
hours 

LAC 
missing and 

absent 

episodes 

Number of 
individual 

LAC 

LAC 
episodes 
over 24 

hours 

August 78 6 1 63 (80.8%) 20 5 

September 75 10 0 48 (64.0%) 21 10 

October 79 14 0 54 (68.4%) 25 11 

November 63 12 2 32 (50.8%) 17 8 

December 68 5 1 36 (52.9%) 14 6 

January 67 6 0 41 (61.2%) 11 2 

February 46 0 0 25 (54.3%) 10 0 

March 73 2 1 35 (54.7%) 12 3 

April 57 4 0 32 (56.1%) 15 2 

May 91 5 1 42 (46.1%) 22 1 

June 87 5 0 56 (64.4%) 22 3 

July 77 3 3 46 (59.7%) 20 0 

TOTAL 861 72 9 510 
(59.2%) 

  

 

Page 42



 
 

 
20. To try and understand the missing episodes of looked after children the 

following data looks at where young people are placed, and the number of 

missing episodes linked to both residential placements and foster placements. 
 

21. The data demonstrates that there was a significant number of missing episodes 
from our in-house residential provision. These missing episodes relate to a 
relatively small number of young people with one young person having 49 

missing episodes over a 12 month period, one having 41 missing episodes over 
a 7 month period, a third having 29 missing episodes over a 11 month period 

and a fourth having 19 missing episodes over a 4 month period.  
 
22. Interventions and incentives are in place to reduce the number of missing 

episodes for these young people. 
 

23. In relation to other residential, including out of borough provision, the high 
numbers of missing episodes relate again to a relatively small group of young 
people. Two young people went missing 35 times, another went missing 25 

times, and another 24 times, which accounts for 119 of the 165 missing 
episodes. 

 
24. In relation to children placed with in-house foster carers, only one young person 

had more than 10 missing episodes. There were a further 9 young people who 

each had between 5 and 9 missing episodes.  

Page 43



 
 

 Month 

1 
Residential 
Non-
GMBC 

2 IFA 
Fostering 

3 In-house 
Residential  

4 
Mainstream 
Fostering 

5 Family 
& 
Friends 

8 Placed 
with 
Parents or 
other 
person 
with PR 

9 Bespoke 
Placement 

10 
Other*: 
(P2) Total 

Aug 34 0 26 3 0 0 0 0 63 

Sep 13 2 25 5 1 0 0 2 48 

Oct 14 1 21 13 0 0 0 5 54 
Nov 12 0 14 6 0 0 0 0 32 

Dec 10 1 10 8 0 0 7 0 36 
Jan 16 0 14 2 1 0 8 0 41 

Feb 8 0 9 6 1 1 0 0 25 
Mar 18 0 10 2 2 0 3 0 35 

Apr 7 1 8 8 0 0 8 0 32 

May 11 2 10 16 0 0 3 0 42 
Jun 5 3 5 17 2 1 16 7 56 

Jul 17 0 5 8 1 0 14 1 46 
Total 165 10 157 94 8 2 59 15 510 

% 32.35% 1.96% 30.78% 18.43% 1.57% 0.39% 11.57% 2.94% 100.00% 

 

P
age 44



 

 
  
 
Return interviews 

 
25. A Return Home Interview is an in-depth conversation with a young person who 

 has been reported missing. It should be led by an independent, trained 
 professional whom the young person trusts. 
 

26. This differs from the police Prevention Interview (which all missing people 
 receive on return) and is carried out by skilled and experienced workers to 

 determine underlying reasons for the missing episode and wider risks and 
 vulnerability factors. The interviews are also used to identify broader trends, 
 including “CSE hotspots” and there are clear links into MSET meetings and 

 intelligence sharing with police. 
 
27. Within the period of this report, a total of 849 offers have been made to young 

people following their return from a missing episode.  There has a very gentle 
increase in missing episodes with the number of return home interviews 

completed remaining consistent.  The % rate of acceptance for young people 
engaging in a return home interview has fluctuated throughout the year with the 
start of the period seeing a steady increase before a decline from January 2021 

to June 2021.  The graph below shows this data discussed with May 2021 
seeing the most missing episodes in a month with 91 recorded and November 

2020 the month where most return home interviews were completed at 32. 
 
28. In relation to young people accepting a return home interview then there was a 

 clear increase in engagement following July 2020 until November 2020 
 however this has steadily decreased since the start of 2021 to June before an 

Page 45



 increase to 29.51% in July.  Looking further into the outcomes following an offer 

 an interview being made just over a third (34.51%) have been declined with this 
 from either the young person or their immediate parent/carer.  29.21% of all 
 offers made have been accepted and an interview undertaken.  The stacked 

 area chart shows consistency in the outcomes on a monthly basis with 23.44% 
 of all offers being ended with ‘subsequent missing episode’. This option is used 

 where the young person has been reported missing again whilst in the process 
 of being offered an initial interview. 
  

29. These interviews are undertaken by workers in Early Help and the outcome of 
 the return interview is shared with the young person’s social worker, the police 

 and any other relevant professionals. 
 
30. Participation levels for Return Interviews is an area of work that needs to be 

 improved as often young people refuse to engage at all and of the ones carried 
 out young people are often quite reluctant to share the reasons why they have 

 gone missing or absent.  
 

 

Page 46



 
 
Return Home Interviews – ‘Hot Spot’ areas  

 

31. During every return home interview, the young person is asked about where 
 they went while they were reported missing. This analysis demonstrates that a 

 high number of young people refuse to disclose their whereabouts however, 
 information has been obtained from 123 interviews completed (47.86%).  The 
 map below plots the locations where the young people have told us they have 

 been.  The locations vary across the Gateshead borough as well as areas in 
 Newcastle, North & South Tyneside.   

 
32. A further map focusing on central areas of Gateshead and Newcastle show 
 some hot spot areas where some locations have been frequented on multiple 

 occasions by young people during missing episodes.  The main areas identified 
 were Bensham, Trinity Square and Gateshead Interchange areas of Gateshead 

 along with central Newcastle.  It is important to note that due to the generic 
 locations given by young people, the maps plot general areas rather than 
 specific postcodes. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 47



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 48



 

Return Home Interviews – Factors 
 

33. During every return home interview, the young person is asked about why they 

 went missing to help us identify vulnerabilities and high-risk concerns.  From 
 the data gathered, the three radar charts below show the most frequent factors, 

 what has taken place during this missing episode and an overall category given 
 following the information provided to show all high-risk indicators being met. 
 

34. Where this intelligence is available it is apparent that substance misuse is 
 prevalent during missing episodes having been identified on 55 occasions 

 (21.40%).  Other vulnerabilities identified were physical and emotional 
 presentation (13.62%), Self-Harm (8.17%), Sexual Exploitation (6.23%), 
 Offending Behaviour (5.84%) and Criminal Exploitation (2.33%). 

 
 

 
Vulnerabilities 
 

Category Total 

Sexual Exploitation 16 

Criminal Exploitation 6 

Self-Harm 21 

Offending Behaviour 15 

Misuse Of Substances 55 

Trafficking/Modern Slavery 0 

Physical & Emotional Presentation 35 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

 
High Risk Categories 
 

35. The most common theme identified for high risk factors was repeat missing 
 episode which related to 129 return home interviews so over half at 50.19%.  

 Other noticeable figures from the data were concerns around physical and 
 emotional wellbeing (24.12%), substance misuse (20.23) and missing 
 overnight/24 hours which was a concerning feature on at least 39 occasions 

 (15.18%).  
  

Category Total 

Missing overnight/24 hours 39 

Repeat missing episode 129 
Physical and emotional wellbeing 
concerns  62 

Criminal exploitation 5 

Trafficking 0 

Domestic abuse 3 

Harmed or injured whilst missing 7 

Alcohol/Substance Misuse 52 

Sexual exploitation 6 

 

 
 
Prominent Reasons 

 
36. The final table and radar chart below considers the prominent reasons 

 disclosed by young people as to why they have gone missing.  Over three 
 quarters of young people interviewed went missing to seek contact with family 
 and/or friends. This is followed by over a quarter (26.07%) of young people 

Page 50



 citing problems at home. Other reasons account for 23.74% and over 10% of 

 young people went missing due to substance misuse. 
 

Category Total 

Bullying 7 
Problems at home 67 
Substance Misuse 26 
Seeking contact with family / friends 195 
Avoiding contact with Family/friends 21 
Felt Pressured or coerced 6 
Involved in offending 6 
Asylum Seeker 0 
Other reason 61 

 

 
 
 
 

Overall Summary 
 

37. Missing episodes have increased slightly and participation in return home 

 interviews has not yet improved.  Bensham, Central Gateshead and Newcastle 
 City Centre are popular destinations for young people however, the data is 

 limited, and further detailed data collection and analysis is recommended.  
 
38. The main vulnerabilities and high-risk factors identified were substance misuse 

 and repeat missing episodes.  Physical and emotional issues were also 
 identified as a concern so again obtaining further knowledge and depth into 

 these specific factors from the young person for example as to whether it’s 
 mainly all alcohol for substance misuse or is there a specific need for more 

Page 51



 awareness and input from substance misuse services in general required would 

 be beneficial.   
 
39. 61 out of 257 young people responded “Other” as the reason for the missing 

 episode which requires further in-depth analysis and clearer recording in the 
 future to identify specific areas around mental health and education. 

 
A New Approach to Return Home Interviews 
 

40. Young people’s participation in Return Home Interviews has been 
 acknowledged as an area for development in Gateshead and significant action 

 has been taken in recent months to enhance our approach and improve quality 
 and participation.  
 

41. A new role has been developed as a dedicated resource to support children and 
 young people who have been reported missing from home or care and 

 undertake return home interviews to enable them talk through their 
 experiences. 
 

42. A Return Home Support Worker has been appointed to quickly build rapport 
 with young people who have been reported missing, offer a safe space to talk 

 about why they went missing, what happened while they were away and any 
 remaining concerns they may have. 
 

43. The Return Home Support Worker will gather intelligence and advocate on 
 behalf of young people to help understand how we can effectively safeguard 
 them and prevent further missing episodes.  

 
44. The role will commence in September 2021 and provide an opportunity for 

 meaningful interventions and ensure a high-quality approach to supporting 
 children who go missing.  
 
Practice developments 

 

45. The local authority continues to work to develop a system to capture and share 
accurate and meaningful information on missing from care episodes and this 
will remain a priority area when we transfer to the new electronic system. 

 
46. The local authority will continue to work with all agencies to strengthen work to 

protect those young people vulnerable to exploitation 
 
47. Return interviews will continue and services will work together to try and 

improve the uptake and quality of these. It envisaged that the dedicated worker 
will have a significant impact in influencing the uptake of RHI 

 
48. Monthly meetings with the police and partners have been implemented. These 

are chaired by Andrea Houlahan – Assistant Strategic Director, Social Work, 

Children and Families to ensure we have a co-ordinated approach to missing 
and these will continue 

 

Page 52



49. Missing from Home Co-ordinators from the police are involved in placement 

information meetings in our residential homes and are included in in writing and 
updating risk assessments of young people in placement 

 

50. Police and Specialist Support co-ordinator are invited to registered managers to 
review the missing process, discuss any issues or concerns and develop 

practice. It is envisaged they will participate in these meetings every three 
months. 

 

51. Police are working with Gateshead’s Business Manager – Safeguarding 
Children Partnership to revise Gateshead’s Local Missing Children policy in line 

with the Levels of Intervention Model.  This work will feed into the review of the 
Regional Missing Children Policy. 

 
Recommendation - it is recommended that the Corporate Parenting OSC: 

 

(i) note and comment on the information provided in the report. 
 

(ii) consider the frequency with which the committee would like to receive 

Missing from Care reports 
 

 
CONTACT: Jill Little 
                   Service Manager 

                   Ext 3420   
 
                   Linda Whitehead  

                   Service Manager 
                   Ext 2560                                                          

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Missing From Home Annual Report  

(01/09/20 – 31/08/21) 

 

 Missing Persons Trends Data 

 

                  

 

 

 

 

 Positive partnership working 

 

 Joint review of Risk Management plans for Children residing in Ofsted 

Registered Childrens Homes 

 Introduction of Information sharing meetings to discuss referrals for 

new residents into Ofsted Registered Children’s Homes 

 MFHC linking in with Gateshead Commissioning regarding out of area 

children being placed into area 

 Home visits by MFHC 

Page 55



 Police are working with the Gateshead Business Manager – 

Safeguarding Children’s Partnership to revise Gateshead’s Local 

Missing Children policy in line with the Levels of Intervention Model. 

This work will feed into the review of the Regional Missing policy. 

 

 Case Studies 

 Child A – Out of Area LAC released from secure and placed into an 

unregulated placement  in Gateshead. Regularly missing for long periods 

of time with UK associates and a high risk of Exploitation. Liaised regularly 

with Out of Area Children’s Services (at one point attending daily 

meetings) and police services, highlighted to Gateshead Childrens 

Services and commissioning for support, discussed at M-SET for scrutiny 

and support. Child A stopped going missing and started to engage with 

professionals. Child A has now turned 18 and is about to move into own 

tenancy with floating support.  

 Child B – Gateshead LAC who was residing in a placement in Scotland, 

this broke down and was moved to an alternative placement with Durham. 

Regular missing episodes whereby Child B would travel to the Gateshead 

area to be near to family and friends. Attended a Risk management 

meeting whereby it was collectively agreed Child B would return to the 

Gateshead area and reside in Gateshead LA Children’s Home. Although 

Child B has had 10 missing episodes since moving in on 22/03/21 this is a 

vast reduction in missing episodes compared with those when out of area. 

Child B is due to start College this month and seems to be doing well.  

 

 Top Missing Locations, 01/09/20 – 31/08/21 

 Longside House = 73  

 Blaydon Children’s Home = 68  

 Jigsaw Recovery Project = 50  

 Fairways Childrens Home = 42  

 12 Ashford = 39  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



Appendix A 

Annual Missing Episodes – Children  

 

  Child 1 Child 2 Child 3 Child 4 Child 5 Child 6 

September 
20 

3 6 6 4 1 Scotland 

October 
20 

5 4 4 1 5 Scotland  
3 

November 
20 

0 4 3 0 3 Scotland 
 

December 
20 

7 5 4 1 5 Scotland 
 

January  
21 

7 5 7 2 0 Durham 

February 
21 

0 1 3 4 1 Durham 

March 21 
 

3 4 Secure 3 4 Moved to LA 
children’s 
home 
22/03/21 
1 

April 21 
 

5 2 Secure 3 1 3 

May 21 
 

2 3 Secure 2 1 3 

June 21 
 

3 3 Secure 0 1 1 

July 21 
 

5 4 Secure 0 3 0 

August 21 
 

8 0 2 6 1 2 

       
Total  48 41 29 26 26 13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



 

Annual Missing Persons OFSTED registered homes 

 

 Longsi
d 
House 

Blaydo
n 

Fairway
s 

Kite
s 
Rise 

Hillsid
e 

Mill 
farmhous
e 

Caxto
n 
House 

Park 
Vie
w 

Saltwe
ll 
House 

Grov
e 
Hous
e 

Septemb
er 20 

14 12 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 

October 
20 

6 15 8 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Novembe
r 20 

4 9 6 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 

Decembe
r 20 

6 5 5 2 0 0 3 0 0 0 

January  
21 

7 7 0 1 6 1 1 0 0 0 

February 
21 

5 3 4 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 

March 21 
 

9 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

April 21 
 

4 3 4 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 

May 21 
 

5 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

June 21 
 

3 1 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

July 21 
 

4 1 4 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 

August 21 
 

6 8 1 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 

           

Total  73 68 42 19 11 7 5 0 0 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

Annual Missing Person Episodes – Unregulated placements 

 

 Jigsaw 
Project 

12 
Ashford 

Eslington 
House – 
Home 
Group 

Chiswick 
Gardens 
– Home 
Group 

Forever 
Care – 55 
Hewitson 
Terrace 

The 
Gibside 
Arms 

Tynevale 
Terrace 
– Home 
Group 

September 
20 

0 0 1 0 0 1 0 

October 
20 

0 0 1 0 0 0 0 

November 
20 

0 0 1 0 0 0 1 

December 
20 

0 6 4 0 4 0 3 

January  
21 

3 7 2 0 7 0 1 

February 
21 

10 0 2 1 5 0 1 

March 21 
 

13 3 0 6 1 0 1 

April 21 
 

12 5 1 2 0 0 1 

May 21 
 

1 2 1 1 1 2 1 

June 21 
 

7 3 1 7 0 9 0 

July 21 
 

0 5 1 2 0 0 0 

August 21 
 

4 8 4 0 0 0 0 

        

Total  50 39 19 19 18 12 9 
 

3 x Home Group Total = 47 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

DATE:  21 September 2021 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT:              Performance Overview – Data as at 31st July 2021 
 

 
 
Purpose of the Report  

 
1.1 To provide the Corporate Parenting Board with key headline activity and performance 

data, related to looked after children. The data provided in this report includes the last 3 

end of year figures, as well as monthly figures for the last 12 months to the end of July 

2021, the latest full month available. This report will be developed for future boards in line 

with any requirements.  

 
Background 

 

2.1 This report will update Board members as to key headline activity and performance data, 

related to looked after children.  

 
2.2 At the end of July 2021, 433 children were looked after which is a 5% increase from 

the number at the start of the Covid pandemic last year. 

 
2.3 However, it is important to set the context that looked after children are not the only 

demand increases children services have noted both locally and nationally.  

 
2.4 Building on work from previous years, research published in February 20211 by the 

Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS), reflected back a national picture 

of increasing demand to social care services. This general trend, which is expected to 

continue had been seen emerging for a number of years, but has been complicated by 

the impact of Covid19, with the report concluding nationally:  

 

“In the initial six months of the Covid-19 pandemic, more children were referred 

who were not previously known to social care services. Families who were just 

about managing pre-pandemic and would not normally come to the attention of 

social care were now in need of significant help. More children were presenting at a 

later stage, once issues were complex and entrenched, and then immediately 

becoming subjects of child protection plans or proceedings.” 

 

2.5 Locally in Gateshead, we have not been immune to the national picture and have seen 

some significant activity pressures emerge. Over the course of the pandemic, since 

March 2020 to present we have seen the following pattern compared to the previous year 

in relation to increases: 

 

                                                 
1
 ADCS safeguarding pressures phase 7 - https://adcs.org.uk/safeguarding/article/safeguarding-pressures-phase-7 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5

https://adcs.org.uk/safeguarding/article/safeguarding-pressures-phase-7


 2 

 

  16% increase in the overall number of contacts received by the service (5686 to 

6600) 

  28% increase in the number of referrals to the service (1470 to 1884) 

  and a subsequent 27% increase in the number referrals that led to an 

assessment (1349 to 1709) 

  18% increase in the number of children open across the service (1567 to 1851). 

This additional 284 children equates roughly to an additional 15 FTE case load. 

  29% increase in the number children subject to child in need plans (426 to 550) 

  5% increase in the number of children becoming looked after (161 to 169) 

  5% increase in the number of children becoming looked, who had never 

previously been looked after) after for the first time (140 to 146) 

  5% increase in the overall number of looked after child at the period end (414 to 

433) 

  20% increase in the number of children on Interim Care Orders (66 to 79) and 

12% increase in children on Full Care Orders (265 to 296) – both Order types 

incur additional costs in relation to legal services and support from the authority. 

 
Key Headline Data for Looked After Children 

 
Figure 1: Numbers of children becoming looked after 

 
 

3.1 Figure 1 shows how over the last rolling 12-month period 169 children have entered care, 

of which 142 (84%) became looked after for the first time. The proportion of children 

becoming looked after for the first time has stayed fairly static over the years, ranging 

between 82.9% and 87.0%  

 
3.2 Over the same period, 100 of the children becoming looked after (59.2%) were previously 

subject to a child protection plan (CPP), showing how the majority of children do not 

enter care without support being provided in advance to try and avoid the entry to care.  

Page 62



 3 

3.3 Monthly figures can fluctuate significantly, and the number of children being taken into 

care in July 2021 was below the levels seen in July 2020, with the number of decreasing 

from 25 children in July 2020 to 15 children in July 2021. Across the course of the 12 

months to July 21 the number of children coming into care was 169, which is slightly 

lower than the previous full financial year 2021, when the figure was 184. 

 
Figure 2: Numbers of children becoming looked after for a second or subsequent time 

 
 

3.4 Figure 2 shows the number of children becoming looked after for a second or subsequent 

time in the last 12 months is consistent with previous years; although volumes year to 

date in 2021-22 are currently below historic averages, with no looked after children 

returning to care in either May or June 2021.  

 
Figure 3: Number of looked after children at the month end and type of placement 

 
 

3.5 Figure 3 shows there were 433 Looked After Children at the end of July 2021, which is a 

5% increase from the number at the start of the Covid pandemic last year. However, 

across the past 12 months the number of looked after children was as high as 451, in 

August 2021, the highest number ever in Gateshead. Our rate of looked after children per 

10,000 was 109.9 meaning Gateshead, as well as the wider Northeast, continues to be 

high when compared to the England average for the number of LAC. 

 
3.6 The increasing number of looked after children has resulted in a change in our use of 

different types of placements. While traditionally in Gateshead we have had a low use of 

agency foster placements, more recently as a result of increasing LAC numbers there 

has been an increase in their use from 35 in July last year to 52, in July this.  
 

Page 63



 4 

Figure 4: Number of looked after placed outside the Gateshead boundary 

Looked After Children: Number open at month end and type of placement2020/212020/212020/212020/212020/212020/212020/212020/212020/212021/222021/222021/222021/22

2
0

1
8

-
2

0
1

9

2
0

1
9

-
2

0
2

0

2
0

2
0

-
2

0
2

1

Y
T

D
 (

2
0

2
1

-

2
0

2
2

)

J
u

l-
2

0

A
u

g
-
2

0

S
e

p
-
2

0

O
c
t
-
2

0

N
o

v
-
2

0

D
e

c
-
2

0

J
a

n
-
2

1

F
e

b
-
2

1

M
a

r
-
2

1

A
p

r
-
2

1

M
a

y
-
2

1

J
u

n
-
2

1

J
u

l-
2

1

[Q12] Number of Looked After Children at month end 380 414 439 433 452 451 435 433 421 423 432 443 439 432 425 430 433

[Q13] Number placed outside Gateshead Boundary 0 185 199 198 200 207 200 197 198 193 193 199 200 200 201 204 198

[Q14] % placed outside Gateshead Boundary  - 44.7% 45.3% 45.7% 44.2% 45.9% 46.0% 45.5% 47.0% 45.6% 44.7% 44.9% 45.6% 46.3% 47.3% 47.4% 45.7%

[Q15] Of those placed outside boundary, non-GH provision 0 49 85 88 66 73 75 75 77 72 76 85 87 87 86 86 88

[Q16] Of total LAC, non-GH provision (%)  - 26.5% 42.7% 44.4% 33.0% 35.3% 37.5% 38.1% 38.9% 37.3% 39.4% 42.7% 43.5% 43.5% 42.8% 42.2% 44.4%  
 

3.7 Figure 4 shows how at the end of July, 198 children were in placements outside of 

Gateshead boundary, this was equal to 45.7% of all placements at the time which is 

broadly in line with the average for previous months and end of year figures reflected in 

the table. This is positive trend given the increase in overall numbers of LAC children 

discussed earlier in the report. However, the number of children who are placed out of 

Gateshead in non-Gateshead provision has increased to around 44.4% of those 

placements across the course of the past 12 months. 
 

Figure 5: Looked after children by legal status 

 
 

3.8 Figure 5 shows the number of Looked After Children on full care orders increased to 296 

at the end of July 2021 and is higher than the same month last year when there were 

270. There has been a significant reduction in the number of children on Section 20 

voluntary agreements which have decreased to 34 in July 2021 compared to 71 

agreements in July 2020. Compared with the end of March 2020, there has been a 20% 

increase in the number of children on Interim Care Orders (66 to 79) and 12% increase in 

children on Full Care Orders (265 to 296) – both Order types incur additional costs in 

relation to legal services and support from the authority. 
 

Page 64



 5 

Figure 6: Age profile of looked after children 

 
 

3.8 Figure 6 shows the majority of Looked After Children continue to be those between the 

ages of 10 -to- 15 years old, in line with previous years. At the end of July 21 compared 

with the same time last year, younger children aged 0-9 accounted for 41% compared 

with 42%. While those aged 16+ increased from 15% to 17%. 
 

Figure 7: stability of looked after placements (3 or more in previous 12 months) 

 
 

3.9 Overall the proportion of children who experience 3 or more placements in the previous 

12 months is generally low. The current 12-month projection remains on a downward 

trend compared to previous years, and at 7.3% of LAC experiencing 3 or more 

placements in the last full financial year 2020/21, Gateshead remains below the 

Northeast and England averages. The number of LAC who have had 3 or more 

cumulative placements in July 2021 rose to 2.1% from 0.7% in June, with an additional 6 

children experiencing moves. 
Page 65



 6 

Figure 8: stability of looked after placements (2.5 years or more long-term stability) 

 
 

3.10 Figure 8 shows the proportion of Looked After Children who have been looked after for 

2.5 years or more and in the same placement for at least 2 years, reduced slightly in July 

to 69.2%, although this remains slightly above the England average of 68.9%.  
 
Figure 9: Children ceasing to be looked after 

 
3.11 Over the last 12 months 184 children have ceased to be looked after in Gateshead, an 

increase on previous years with 155 LAC ceasing to be looked after in 2020-21.  

 
3.12 Of these children who ceased to be looked after, 26.1% were as a result of returning 

home and a further 17.9% as a result of turning 18 years of age. Gateshead LAC 

episodes that ceased as a result of turning 18 years of age is below both the England 

average (32%) and the Northeast average (39%). Special guardianship offers also 

accounted for 32.6% of children ceasing to be looked after in the last 12 months which is 

significantly higher than the England average of 13%. 

Page 66



 7 

 
Recommendations 

 
4.1 The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to note the contents of this report. And identify if 

there are any areas/issues they would like more information about.  

 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------- 
Contact: Jon Gaines, Service Manager Quality Assurance   

jongaines@gateshead.gov.uk  Ex: 3484 

  

Page 67

mailto:jongaines@gateshead.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Constitution
	2 Corporate Parenting Partnership Action Plan
	Item 2a - Corporate Parenting Partnership - DRAFT Operational Plan 2021-24
	Item 2b - Corporate Parenting Partnership - Terms of Reference 2021

	3 Placement Sufficiency Annual Report
	4 Missing from Home Annual Report
	Item 4a - Appendix 1 - Police Missing From Home Annual Report - Gateshead

	5 Performance Overview

